Resource Ditle National 4 7100 & Pleasand Valley Rd 8te 100 Snaypendence OH 44131

CODE OF REGULATIONS (BYLAWS)

**OF** 

CORBETT'S FARM HOMEOWNERS' ASSOCIATION, INC.,

A Non-Profit Ohio Corporation

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

	e, Principal Office, and Definitions	
Section 1.	Name	
Section 2.	Principal Office	
Section 3.	Definitions	
Article II Ass	ociation: Meetings, Quorum, Voting, Proxies	
Section 1.	Membership	
Section 2.	Place of Meetings	
Section 3.	Annual Meetings	
Section 4.	Special Meetings	
Section 5.	Notice of Meetings	م 2
Section 6.	Waiver of Notice	م 2
Section 7.	Adjournment of Meetings	
Section 8.	Voting	
Section 9.	Proxies	
Section 10.	Majority	
Section 11.	Quorum	
Section 12.	Conduct of Meetings	
Section 13.	Action Without A Meeting	2
	ard of Directors: Number, Selection, Term of Office	
Section 1.	Number	
Section 2.	Term of Office	4
Section 3.	Compensation	4
Andiala III - Nia	minution and Plant's CD' (	
Arucie IV No	mination and Election of Directors	
Section 1.	Nomination	
Section 2.	Election Inspectors	4
Section 3.	Election	4
Section 4.	Removal of Directors and Vacancies.	5
Article V Mee	etings of Directors	e
Section 1.	Regular Meetings	
Section 2.	Special Meetings	
Section 3.	Quorum	
Section 4.	Conduct of Meetings	د
Section 5.	Closed Meetings	
Section 6.	Executive Session	
Section 7.	Action Without a Formal Meeting	C
Section 7.	Non-Discrimination by Roard	
section 6.	Non-Discrimination by Board	6
Article VI Pov	wers, Limitation on Powers and Duties of the Board	6
Section 1.	Powers	
Section 2.	Limitation on Powers; Right of Declarant to Disapprove Actions	
Section 3.	Duties	
544.011 J.	~ www	



Article VII	Officers and Their Duties	10
Section 1.	Enumeration of Offices	10
Section 2.	Election of Officers	10
Section 3.	Term	10
Section 4.	Special Appointments	10
Section 5.	Resignation and Removal	11
Section 6.	Vacancies	11
Section 7.	Multiple Offices.	11
Section 8.	Powers and Duties	11
Section 9.	Agreements, Contracts, Deeds, Easements, Leases, Checks	
Article VIII	Committees	
Section 1.	Appointment of Committees	1∠
Section 2.	Design Review Committee	12
Section 3.	Covenants Committee	12
Article IX	Finances of Association (Assessments)	12
Section 1.	Preparation of Estimated Budget	12
Section 2.	Reserve for Contingencies and Replacements; Special Assessments	13
Section 3.	Failure to Prepare Annual Budget	13
Section 4.	Books and Records of the Association	13
Section 5.	Status of Funds Collected by Association	14
Section 6.	Depository	14
Section 7.	Annual Review	14
Section 8.	Remedies for Failure to Pay Assessments	14
Article X	learing Procedure; Compliance and Non-Monetary Default	14
Section 1.	Enforcement	14
Section 2.	Enforcement Assessments	. 15
Section 3.	Negligence	16
Section 4.	Responsibility of Members for Tenants	16
Section 5.	Costs and Attorney's Fees	16
Section 6.	Declarant Assessments for Legal Expenses	16
Section 7.	No Waiver of Rights	17
Section 8.	Appeal	17
Section 9.	Additional Enforcement Rights	17
Article XI	ndemnification	
	Amendments to this Code of Regulations	
Article XIII	Miscellaneous	18
Section 1.	Fiscal Year	18
Section 2.	Parliamentary Rules	18
Section 3.	Conflicts	18
Section 4.	Books and Records	19
Section 5.	Notices	19
Section 6.	Owner Information	20
Section 7.	Headings	20
(K0353651.1)	ii	



Section 8.	Conflicts	20
Section 9.	Rule Against Perpetuities	20

## **CODE OF REGULATIONS (BYLAWS)**

#### <u>OF</u>

# CORBETT'S FARM HOMEOWNERS' ASSOCIATION, INC.

# Article I Name, Principal Office, and Definitions

- Section 1. <u>Name</u>. The name of the Association is CORBETT'S FARM HOMEOWNERS' ASSOCIATION, INC., an Ohio non-profit corporation (hereinafter sometimes referred to as the "Association").
- Section 2. <u>Principal Office</u>. The principal office of the Association will be located in the City of Twinsburg, Summit County, Ohio.
- Section 3. <u>Definitions</u>. Capitalized terms used in this Code of Regulations ("Code") shall have the same meaning as set forth in the Declaration of Covenants, Conditions, Easements and Restrictions for Corbett's Farm Subdivision, Twinsburg, Summit County, Ohio (the "Declaration").

# Article II Association: Meetings, Quorum, Voting, Proxies

- Section 1. <u>Membership</u>. The Association shall have two (2) classes of membership, Class "A" and Class "B" ("Members"), as more fully set forth in the Declaration, the terms of which pertaining to memberships are specifically incorporated herein by reference.
- Section 2. <u>Place of Meetings</u>. Meetings of the Association shall be held at the principal office of the Association or at such other suitable place convenient to the Members as may be designated by the Board of Directors (the "Board") of the Association either on the Property or as convenient thereto as possible and practical.
- Section 3. <u>Annual Meetings</u>. The first annual meeting of the Members shall be held within one hundred twenty (120) days after the termination of the Class "B" Membership in accordance with Section 5.2(b)(2) of the Declaration, and each subsequent annual meeting shall be held at 7:00 p.m. on the same day of the same month of each year thereafter, unless the Board designates a different date. If the day for the annual meeting of the Members is a legal holiday, the meeting will be held on the first day following which is not a legal holiday.
- Section 4. <u>Special Meetings</u>. The President of the Association may call special meetings. In addition, after the Declarant is no longer a Class "B" Member, it shall be the duty of the President of the Association to call a special meeting of the Association if so directed by resolution of a majority of a quorum of the Board or upon a petition signed by holders of at least one-fourth (1/4th) of all of the votes of the Class A Members. The notice of any special meeting

1 Knisten Scaling Summit Co Fiscal Office

shall state the date, time, and place of such meeting and the purpose thereof. No business shall be transacted at a special meeting except as stated in the notice.

Notice of Meetings. A written or printed notice stating the place, day, and Section 5. time of any meeting of the Members shall be delivered, either personally or by mail, or by c-mail if authorized in writing by a Member, to each Member entitled to vote at such meeting, at least fifteen (15) days before the date of such meeting, by or at the direction of the President or the Secretary or the officers or Persons calling the meeting. Such notice shall specify the place, day and time of the meeting, and, in the case of a special meeting, the purpose of the meeting. No business shall be transacted at a special meeting except as stated in the notice.

If mailed, the notice of a meeting shall be deemed to be delivered three (3) days after it is deposited in the United States mail addressed to the Class "A" Member at his address as it appears on the records of the Association, or supplied by such Member to the Association for the purpose of notice, with postage thereon prepaid.

Waiver of Notice. Waiver of notice of meeting by a Class "A" Member Section 6. shall be deemed the equivalent of proper notice. Any Class "A" Member may, in writing, waive notice of any meeting of the Members, either before or after such meeting. Attendance at a meeting by a Class "A" Member, whether in Person or by proxy, shall be deemed a waiver by such Class "A" Member of notice of the time, date, and place thereof, unless such Class "A" Member or specifically objects to lack of proper notice at the time the meeting is called to order. Attendance at a special meeting shall also be deemed a waiver of notice of all business transacted thereat unless objection to the calling or convening of the meeting, of which proper notice was not given, is raised before the business is put to a vote.

Section 7. Adjournment of Meetings. If any meeting of the Association cannot be held because a quorum is not present, a majority of the Class "A" Members who are present at such meeting, either in Person or by proxy, may adjourn the meeting to a time not less than five (5) nor more than thirty (30) days from the time the original meeting was called. At such adjourned meeting at which a quorum is present, any business which might have been transacted at the meeting originally called may be transacted. If a time and place for the adjourned meeting is not fixed by those in attendance at the original meeting or if for any reason a new date is fixed for the adjourned meeting after adjournment, notice of the time and place of the adjourned meeting shall be given to Class "A" Members in the manner prescribed for regular meetings.

The Class "A" Members present at a duly called or held meeting at which a quorum is present may continue to do business until adjournment, notwithstanding the withdrawal of enough Class "A" Members to leave less than a quorum, provided that at least ten (10%) percent of the voting power of the Association remains present in Person or by proxy.

- Section 8. Voting. The voting rights of the Members shall be as set forth in the Declaration, and such voting rights provisions are specifically incorporated herein.
- Section 9. Proxies. At all meetings of Members, each Class "A" Member may act or vote in Person or by proxy. The Person appointed as proxy need not be a Member of the Association. Designation by a Member or Members of a proxy to vote or act on his behalf shall

56044041 Pg: 6 of 25 05/01/2014 11:11A MISC 232.00

be made in writing to the Secretary of the Association (or if there is no Secretary, then with the Person conducting the meeting for which the proxy is given) at or before the meeting and shall be revocable at any time by actual notice to the Secretary of the Association by the Member or Members making such designation and shall automatically cease upon conveyance by the Member of his Sublot. Notice to the Association in writing or in open meeting of the revocation of the designation of a proxy shall not affect any vote or act previously taken or authorized. The presence at a meeting of the Person appointing a proxy does not revoke the appointment.

Section 10. <u>Majority</u>. As used in this Code, the term "majority" shall mean those votes totaling more than fifty (50%) percent of the total number.

Section 11. Quorum. Unless otherwise set forth in the Declaration, the presence in Person or by proxy of at least twenty percent (20%) of the voting power of each of the Class "A" and Class "B" Members of the Association shall constitute a quorum at all meetings of the Association except as otherwise provided in the Articles of Incorporation, the Declaration, or this Code. Any provision in the Declaration concerning quorums is specifically incorporated herein. If a quorum is not present or represented at any meeting, the Members entitled to vote thereat shall have the power to adjourn the meeting from time to time, without notice other than announcement at the meeting, until a quorum as aforesaid shall be present or be represented.

Section 12. <u>Conduct of Meetings</u>. The president shall preside over all meetings of the Association, and the secretary shall keep the minutes of the meeting and record in a minute book all resolutions adopted at the meeting, as well as a record of all transactions occurring thereat.

Section 13. Action Without A Meeting. Any action required by law to be taken at a meeting of the Class "A" Members or any action which may be taken at a meeting of the Class "A" Members may be taken without a meeting if a consent in writing setting forth the action so taken shall be signed by all of the Class "A" Members entitled to vote with respect to the subject matter thereof, and such consent shall have the same force and effect as a unanimous vote of the Class "A" Members.

# Article III Board of Directors: Number, Selection, Term of Office

Section 1. Number. During the Class "B" Membership period specified in Section 5.2(b)(2) of the Declaration, the affairs of this Association shall be managed by a Board of three (3) Directors who need not be Members of the Association. After the termination of the Class "B" Membership and in accordance with Article IV, Section 3 of this Code, the Members shall elect all three (3) Directors. Members or spouses of Members may be elected as Directors; provided, however, no single Dwelling Unit shall be represented on the Board by more than (1) Person at the same time. If a Member is a corporation, partnership, limited liability company, trustee or other artificial entity, a certificate signed by such Member shall be filed with the Secretary of the Association naming such Director (or if there is no Secretary, then with the Person conducting the meeting), which certificate shall be conclusive until a subsequent substitute certificate is filed with the Secretary of the Association.

5604 Pg: 7 05/01/2 MISC

- Term of Office. Prior to the termination of the Class "B" Control Period, Section 2. the Class "B" Member shall elect one (1) Director for a term of one (1) year, and two (2) Directors for a term of two (2) years; and at each annual Meeting thereafter the Class "B" Member shall elect one (1) or two (2) Directors, as the case may be, for a term of two (2) years. After the termination of the Class "B" Control Period, the Members shall elect one (1) Director, for a term of three (3) years; one (1) Director, for a term of two (2) years; and one (1) Director for a term of one (1) year. At each annual meeting thereafter, the Members shall elect one (1) Director, as the case may be, for a term of three (3) years.
- Compensation. No Director shall receive compensation for any service he Section 3. may render to the Association. However, any Director may be reimbursed for his actual expenses incurred in the performance of his duties.

### Article IV Nomination and Election of Directors

- Section 1. Nomination. Nomination for election to the Board shall be made by a Nominating Committee. Nominations may also be made from the floor at the annual meeting. The Nominating Committee shall consist of a Chairman, who shall be a Member of the Board, and two (2) Members of the Association. The Nominating Committee shall be appointed by the Board prior to each annual meeting of the Members, to serve from the close of such annual meeting until the close of the next annual meeting and such appointment shall be announced at each annual meeting. The Nominating Committee shall make as many nominations for election to the Board as it shall in its discretion determine, but not less than the number of vacancies that are to be filled. Such nominations may be made from among Members.
- Section 2. Election Inspectors. At each meeting at which Board members are to be elected, after nominations to the Board, but prior to the election of such Board members, the Members of the Association shall elect two Members of the Association to serve as Election Inspectors at the meeting to examine the ballots cast, to count the votes and to announce the names of the Members elected to Board positions. The Election Inspectors shall not be nominees (or spouses of nominees) for election to the Board.
  - Section 3. Election. Notwithstanding any other provision contained herein:
- At the first annual meeting of the membership after the termination of the Class "B" Control Period specified in Section 5.2(b)(2) of the Declaration, the Class "A" Members shall elect all three (3) Directors. Immediately prior to such election, all Persons previously elected or appointed by the Declarant, shall resign; provided, however, that such Persons shall be eligible for reelection to the Board. The terms of office of the Directors elected by the Class "A" Members shall be in accordance with Article III, Section 2 of this Code.
- At any election of Directors, each Class "A" Member shall be entitled to cast one (1) equal vote with respect to each vacancy to be filled. The candidates receiving the largest number of votes shall be elected. Such election shall be by written secret ballot whenever requested by a Member of the Association; but unless the request is made, the election may be conducted in any manner approved at such meeting. The Directors elected by the Class "A"

56044041 Pg: 8 of 25 05/01/2014 11:11A MISC 232 00

Members shall hold office until their respective successors have been elected by the Association. The Directors may be elected to serve any number of consecutive terms. The Persons so elected shall take office upon such election.

Section 4. Removal of Directors and Vacancies. A Director who was elected solely by the votes of Class "A" Members other than the Declarant may be removed from office, with or without cause, prior to the expiration of his term only, by the vote of a majority of the voting power of Class "A" Members other than the Declarant. Any Director whose removal is sought shall be given notice prior to any meeting called for that purpose. Upon removal of a Director, a successor shall then and there be elected by the Class "A" Members entitled to elect the Director so removed to fill the vacancy for the remainder of the term of such Director.

Any Director elected by the Class "A" Members who has three (3) consecutive unexcused absences from meetings of the Board or who is delinquent in the payment of any Assessment or other charge due the Association for more than thirty (30) days may be removed by a majority of the Directors present at a regular or special meeting at which a quorum is present, and a successor may be appointed by the Board to fill the vacancy for the remainder of the term. In the event of the death, disability, or resignation of a Director, a vacancy may be declared by the Board, and it may appoint a successor. Any Director appointed by the Board shall serve for the remainder of the term of the Director who vacated the position.

### Article V Meetings of Directors

- Section 1. <u>Regular Meetings</u>. Regular meetings of the Board shall be held without notice, at such place and hour as may be fixed from time to time by resolution of the Board. Should said meeting fall upon a legal holiday, then that meeting shall be held at the same time on the next day which is not a legal holiday.
- Section 2. <u>Special Meetings</u>. Special meetings of the Board shall be held when called by the president of the Association, or by any two (2) Directors, after not less than three (3) days notice to each Director.
- Section 3. Quorum. A majority of the number of Directors shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business. Every act or decision done or made by a majority of the Directors present at a duly held meeting at which a quorum is present shall be regarded as the act of the Board.
- Section 4. <u>Conduct of Meetings</u>. The President shall preside over all meetings of the Board, and the Secretary shall keep a minute book of the Board, recording therein all resolutions adopted by the Board and a record of all transactions and proceedings occurring at such meetings. Meetings may be conducted by any method of communication including electronic or telephonic communication, provided all members of the Board can hear or read in real time and participate and respond to every other member of the Board.
- Section 5. <u>Closed Meetings</u>. Pursuant to Ohio Revised Code Section 5312.04(F), no Owner other than a Director may attend or participate in any discussion or deliberation of a meeting of the Board unless the Board expressly authorizes that Owner to attend or participate.

56044 Pg: 9 of %5/01/201 MISC

- Executive Session. The Board may, with approval of a majority of a Section 6. quorum, adjourn a meeting and reconvene in executive session to discuss and vote upon personnel matters, litigation in which the Association is or may become involved, and orders of business of a similar nature. The nature of any and all business to be considered in executive session shall first be announced in open session.
- Section 7. Action Without a Formal Meeting. Any action to be taken at a meeting of the Board or any action that may be taken at a meeting of the Board may be taken without a meeting if a consent in writing, setting forth the action so taken, shall be signed by all of the Members of the Board, and such consent shall have the same force and effect as a unanimous vote. An explanation of the action taken shall be posted at a prominent place or places within the Common Areas within three (3) days after the written consents of all the Members of the Board have been obtained.
- Section 8. Non-Discrimination by Board. The Board shall comply with all applicable state and federal laws concerning prohibitions against discrimination on the basis of race, color, religion, sex, military status, national origin, disability, age, or ancestry, including, but not limited to, Chapter 4112 of the Ohio Revised. No private right of action additional to those conferred by the applicable state and federal anti-discrimination laws is conferred on any aggrieved individual by the preceding sentence.

### Article VI Powers, Limitation on Powers and Duties of the Board

Section 1. Powers. The Board shall be responsible for the affairs of the Association and shall have all of the powers and duties necessary for the administration of the Association's affairs and, as provided by law, may do all acts and things as are not by the Declaration, Articles, or this Code directed to be done and exercised exclusively by the Class "A" Members.

In addition to powers specified in the Declaration, including the powers set forth in Section 5.4 of the Declaration, and in addition to the duties imposed by this Code or by any resolution of the Association that may be hereafter adopted, the Board shall have the power to and be responsible for the following, in way of explanation, but not limitation:

- (a) Adopt, publish and enforce Rules governing the use of the Common Areas, the personal conduct of the Members and their guests thereon, and to establish penalties for the infraction thereof in accordance with Article X hereof.
- suspend the voting rights, use of the recreational facilities, and the receipt of Association services of a Member during any period in which such Member shall be in default in the payment of any Assessment levied by the Association. Such rights may also be suspended after notice and hearing, for a period not to exceed sixty (60) days for infraction of the Rules;
- exercise for the Association all powers, duties and authority vested in or delegated to the Association and not reserved to the membership by other provisions of this Code, the Articles of Incorporation, or the Declaration;

56044041 Pg: 10 of 25 05/01/2014 11:11A MISC 232 00

- (d) declare the office of a Member of the Board to be vacant in the event such Member shall be absent from three (3) consecutive regular meetings of the Board;
- (e) select by a majority vote a successor Director in the event of death, resignation or removal of a Director. A successor Director shall serve for the unexpired term of his predecessor;
- (f) hire and fire managing agents, attorneys, accountants and other independent professionals and also employees that the Board determines are necessary or desirable in the management of the Property and the Association;
- (g) prepare and adopt an annual budget in which there shall be established the contribution of each Owner to the Common Expenses. The budget shall include reserves in an amount adequate to repair or replace major capital items in the normal course of operations without the necessity of special assessments, unless Owners, exercising not less than a majority of the voting power of the Association, waive the reserve requirement annually;
- (h) making Assessments to defray the Common Expenses, establishing the means and methods of collecting such Assessments, and establishing the period of the installment payments of the annual Assessment; provided, however, that unless otherwise determined by the Board, the annual Assessment against the proportionate share of the Common Expenses shall be payable in equal monthly installments, each such installment to be due and payable in advance on the first day of each month for said month;
- (i) providing for the operation, care, upkeep, and maintenance of all of the Common Areas;
- (j) designating, hiring, and dismissing the personnel necessary for the maintenance, operation, repair, and replacement of the Association, its property, and the Common Areas and, where appropriate, providing for the compensation of such personnel and for the purchase of equipment, supplies, and material to be used by such personnel in the performance of their duties;
- (k) collecting the Assessments, depositing the proceeds thereof in a bank depository which it shall approve, and using the proceeds to administer the Association; provided, however, that any reserve fund may only be deposited in investments that meet standards for fiduciary investments under the laws of the state of Ohio;
  - (1) making and amending Rules;
- (m) opening of bank accounts on behalf of the Association and designating the signatories required in accordance with Article VII, Section 9 of this Code;
- (n) making or contracting for the making of repairs, additions, and improvements to or alterations of the Common Areas in accordance with the provisions of the Declaration and this Code after damage or destruction by fire or other casualty;

56 95:4 05:4 05:4

{K0353651.1}

2.00

- (o) enforcing by legal means the provisions of the Declaration, this Code, and the Rules adopted by it and bringing any proceedings which may be instituted on behalf of or against the Owners concerning the Association;
- (p) obtaining and carrying insurance against casualties and liabilities (including directors and officers liability insurance to the extent reasonably available), as provided in the Declaration, and paying the premium cost thereof;
- (q) paying the cost of all services rendered to the Association or its Members and not chargeable directly to individual Owners;
- (r) keeping books with detailed accounts of the receipts and expenditures affecting the Association and its administration, specifying the maintenance and repair expenses and any other expenses incurred. The said books and vouchers accrediting the entries thereupon shall be available for examination by the Owners and mortgagees, their duly authorized agents, accountants, or attorneys, during general business hours on working days at the time and in a manner that shall be set and announced by the Board for the general knowledge of the Owners. All books and records shall be kept in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices;
- (s) making available to any prospective purchaser of a Dwelling Unit or a vacant Sublot, any Owner of a Dwelling Unit or a vacant Sublot, any first mortgagee, and the holders, insurers, and guarantors of a first mortgage on any Dwelling Unit or vacant Sublot, current copies of the Declaration, the Articles, this Code, rules governing Dwelling Units and vacant Sublots, and all other books, records, and financial statements of the Association. The Association or the management company selected by the Association may impose a reasonable charge for the foregoing in order to defray duplication costs;
- (t) permitting utility suppliers to use portions of the Common Areas reasonably necessary to the ongoing development or operation of the Property;
- (u) entering into easement agreements, leases, license agreements and other agreements with utility companies (both private and public), with Owners, and with the owners of neighboring properties;
- (v) borrowing money from time to time for the purpose of improving, maintaining, repairing and replacing the Common Areas, and secure said financing without the approval of the Class "A" Members with: an assignment of Assessments, including Additional Assessments and future Assessments in accordance with Section 5.4(a) of the Declaration;
- (w) granting or obtaining or dedicating to public use easements and rights-of-way (i) for access and for the construction, extension, installation, maintenance or replacement of utility services and facilities, or (ii) to or from a public or governmental authority, and to or from any body or agency which has the power of eminent domain or condemnation over any portion of the Property; provided, however, that no such dedication or transfer shall be effective unless an instrument agreeing to such dedication or transfer be signed by two-thirds (2/3rds) of the Members has been recorded.

56044041 Pg: 12 of 25 05/01/2014 11:11A MISC 232.00

- (x) such other rights as conferred by Ohio Revised Code Chapters 5312 and 1702 that do not conflict with the provisions of the Declaration or this Code.
- Section 2. <u>Limitation on Powers; Right of Declarant to Disapprove Actions</u>. This Section 2 may not be amended without the express, written consent of the Class "B" Member during the Class "B" Control Period.

During the Class "B" Control Period, the Class "B" Member shall have a right at its sole discretion to disapprove actions of the Board and the Design Review Committee, as is more fully provided in this Section. This right shall be exercisable only by the Class "B" Member, its successors, and assigns who specifically take this power in a recorded instrument. The right to disapprove shall be as follows:

No action authorized by the Board or Design Review Committee shall become effective, nor shall any action, policy, or program be implemented until and unless:

- (a) The Class "B" Member shall have been given written notice of all meetings and proposed actions approved at meetings of the Board or any committee thereof in accordance with Section 16.2 of the Declaration, which notice shall, except in the case of the regular meetings held pursuant to this Code, set forth in reasonable particularity the agenda to be followed at said meeting; and
- The Class "B" Member shall be given the opportunity at any such meeting to join (b) in or to have its representatives or agents join in discussion from the floor of any prospective action, policy, or program to be implemented by the Board, any committee thereof, or the Association. The Class "B" Member, its representatives or agents shall have the right to make its concerns, thoughts, and suggestions known to the members of the subject committee and/or the Board. The Class "B" Member shall have the right to disapprove any action, policy, or program authorized by the Board or any committee thereof and to be taken by the Board, such committee, the Association, or any individual member of the Association, if Board, committee, or Association approval is necessary for such action. This right may be exercised by the Class "B" Member, its representatives, or agents at any time within thirty (30) days following the meeting held pursuant to the terms and provisions hereof. This right to disapprove may be used to block proposed actions but shall not extend to the requiring of any action or counteraction on behalf of any committee, or the Board or the Association. The Class "B Member shall not use its right of disapproval to require a reduction in the level of services which the Association is obligated to provide or to prevent capital repairs or any expenditures required to comply with applicable laws and regulations.

# Section 3. <u>Duties</u>. It shall be the duty of the Board to:

- (a) cause to be kept a complete record of all its acts and corporate affairs and to present a statement thereof to the Members at the annual meeting of the Members, or at any special meeting when such statement is required in writing by one-fourth (1/4) of the Class A Members who are entitled to vote;
- (b) supervise all officers, agents and employees of the Association, and to see that their duties are properly performed;

56 Pg :

- (c) as more fully provided in the Declaration, to:
- (1) fix the amount of the annual Assessment against Sublots at least thirty (30) days in advance of each annual Assessment period;
- (2) send written notice of each Assessment to every Owner subject thereto at least thirty (30) days in advance of each annual Assessment period; and
- (3) foreclose the lien against any Sublot for which Assessments are not paid within thirty (30) days after due date or to bring an action at law against the Owner personally obligated to pay the same.
- (d) issue, or to cause an appropriate officer to issue, upon demand by any Person, a certificate setting forth whether or not any Assessment has been paid. A reasonable charge may be made by the Board for the issuance of these certificates. If a certificate states an Assessment has been paid, such certificate shall be conclusive evidence of such payment;
- (e) pursuant to Section 6.5 of the Declaration, procure and maintain adequate liability and hazard insurance on property owned by the Association and adequate officers and directors indemnity insurance and cause all officers or employees having fiscal responsibilities to be bonded, as it may deem appropriate;
  - (f) cause the Common Areas to be maintained;
- (g) establish, levy, assess and collect all Assessments referred to or authorized in the Declaration; and
- (h) enter into easement agreements, license agreements and other agreements with utility companies (both private and public), with Owners within the Property and with owners of neighboring properties.

# Article VII Officers and Their Duties

- Section 1. <u>Enumeration of Offices</u>. The officers of the Association shall be a president and vice-president, who shall at all times be Members of the Board, a secretary, and a treasurer, and such other officers as the Board may from time to time by resolution create.
- Section 2. <u>Election of Officers</u>. The election of officers shall take place at the first meeting of the Board following each annual meeting of the Members.
- Section 3. <u>Term.</u> The officers of the Association shall be elected annually by the Board and each shall hold office for one (1) year or until his successor is elected and has qualified, unless he or she shall sooner resign, or shall be removed, or otherwise disqualified to serve.



- Section 4. Special Appointments. The Board may elect such other officers as the affairs of the Association may require, each of whom shall hold office for such period, have such authority, and perform such duties as the Board may, from time to time, determine.
- Resignation and Removal. Any officer may be removed from office with or without cause by the Board. Any officer may resign at any time giving written notice to the Board, the president or the secretary. Such resignation shall take effect on the date of receipt of such notice or at any later time specified therein, and unless otherwise specified therein, the acceptance of such resignation shall not be necessary to make it effective.
- Section 6. Vacancies. A vacancy in any office may be filled by appointment by the Board. The officer appointed to such vacancy shall serve for the remainder of the term of the officer he replaces.
- Multiple Offices. The offices of secretary and treasurer may be held by the Section 7. same Person. No Person shall simultaneously hold more than one of any of the other offices except in the case of special offices created pursuant to Section 4 of this Article.
- Section 8. Powers and Duties. The officers of the Association shall each have such powers and duties as generally pertain to their respective offices, as well as such powers and duties as may from time to time be specifically conferred by or imposed by the Board. The offices and powers and duties of the officers are as follows:
- President: The president shall preside at all meetings of the Board; shall see that orders and resolutions of the Board are carried out; shall see that orders and resolutions of the Board are carried out; shall sign all leases, deeds, and other written instruments and shall co-sign all checks and promissory notes.
- Vice-President: The vice-president shall act in the place and stead of the president in the event of his absence, inability or refusal to act; and shall exercise and discharge such other duties as may be required of him or her by the Board.
- Secretary: The secretary shall record the votes and keep the minutes of all meetings and proceedings of the Board and of the Members; serve notice of meetings of the Board and of the Members; keep appropriate current records showing the Members of the Association together with their addresses, and shall perform such other duties as required by the Board.
- Treasurer: The treasurer shall receive and deposit in appropriate bank accounts all monies of the Association and shall disburse such funds as directed by resolution of the Board; shall sign all checks and promissory notes of the Association; keep proper books of account; cause an annual audit or review of the Association books to be made by a public accountant at the completion of each fiscal year; and shall prepare an annual budget and a statement of income and expenditures to be represented to the membership at its regular annual meeting, and deliver a copy of each to the Members.
- Agreements, Contracts, Deeds, Easements, Leases, Checks. Section 9. All agreements, contracts, deeds, easements, leases, checks, and other instruments of the Association

authorized by the Declaration or the Act, shall be executed by any two (2) officers of the Association or by such other Person or Persons as may be designated by resolution of the Board.

# Article VIII Committees

- Section 1. <u>Appointment of Committees</u>. The Board shall appoint a Design Review Committee, as provided in the Declaration, and a Nominating Committee and a Covenants Committee, as provided below in this Code. In addition, the Board shall appoint other committees as deemed appropriate in carrying out its purpose.
- Section 2. <u>Design Review Committee</u>. The Board shall appoint a Design Review Committee ("DRC") consisting of three (3) Persons. The structure and the functions of the DRC shall be in accordance with Article VIII of the Declaration.
- Section 3. <u>Covenants Committee</u>. The Board may appoint a Covenants Committee consisting of three (3) Members. Acting in accordance with the provisions of the Declaration, this Code, and resolutions the Board may adopt, the Covenants Committee, if established, shall be the hearing tribunal of the Association and shall conduct all hearings held pursuant to Article VIII of this Code.

# Article IX Finances of Association (Assessments)

Preparation of Estimated Budget. On or before the filing with the Summit County Recorder of the Declaration, and on or before December 15 of each year thereafter, the Association shall prepare a preliminary estimated budget of the total amount necessary to pay the Assessments referred to in Article IX of the Declaration for the balance of the calendar year in which the Declaration is filed and, thereafter, for each succeeding calendar year together with a reasonable amount considered by the Association to be necessary for a reserve for contingencies and replacements, and the amounts, if any, which may be received from special assessments, concessions, contracts for special services and facilities, and other sources. Within 45 days of the date of the preliminary estimate, the Association will prepare a final estimated budget and shall notify each Member in writing as to the amount of such estimates, and shall send a copy of such notice to each holder of a first mortgage upon the Ownership Interest of a Member who has made a request in writing for such notification. The failure of the Association to comply strictly with the above time requirements shall not be deemed to be a waiver and shall not prevent the Association from collecting Assessments. The net of the aggregate amounts of such estimates (herein called the "Estimated Cash Requirements") of the next calendar year shall be assessed to those Members required to pay the Assessments according to and as specifically set forth in Article IX of the Declaration. Each Member required to pay Assessments shall pay to the Association or as it may direct, the Assessment made pursuant to this Section on or before the first day of each calendar year, except that the Board may elect to collect annual Assessments semi-annually, quarterly, or monthly, in advance. On or before the date of each annual meeting, the Association shall furnish to all Members an itemized accounting of the expenditures for the preceding calendar year actually incurred and paid, together with a tabulation of the amounts collected pursuant to the estimates provided, by special Assessments, or otherwise, and showing

> 56044041 Pg: 16 of 25 05/01/2014 11:11A MISC 232.00

the net amount over or short of the actual expenditures plus reserves. Any amount accumulated in excess of the amount required for actual expenses and reserves shall be credited to the last maturing monthly installments due from the Members under the current year's estimate, pro rata. Any net shortage shall be added pro rata to the next installment due after the rendering of the accounting.

In addition to such regular monthly assessments, each Class A Member shall be required to make, at the time such Member acquires title to a Sublot, an initial capital contribution to the Association equal to two months of the estimated annual Assessment for Common Expenses for each Sublot purchased one-half (1/2) of said sum shall be held by the Association's working capital account and the balance of said sum shall be held by the Association as a reserve for contingencies and replacements. The general purpose of this contribution is to provide the Association with funds for working capital and/or contingency reserve purposes. Such funds may be used for certain prepaid items (e.g., insurance premiums, utility deposits and organization, equipment and supply costs) and for such other purposes as the Board may determine. This initial capital contribution is not an escrow or an advance, is not refundable and shall not be required of the Declarant, but only from those Persons who purchase a Sublot from the Declarant.

Notwithstanding the provisions of this Section 1, the Board shall have the authority to establish payment of Assessments, quarterly or semi-annually or annually (rather than monthly).

Section 2. Reserve for Contingencies and Replacements; Special Assessments. The Association shall build up and maintain a reasonable reserve for contingencies and replacements. Extraordinary expenditures not originally included in the annual estimate which may be necessary for the year, shall be charged first against such reserve. If the "Estimated Cash Requirements" proves inadequate for any reason, including nonpayment of any Member's Assessment, the deficiency and any extraordinary expenditures in excess of the reserves therefor shall be assessed to the Members required to pay assessments, pro rata. The Association shall also make any necessary or desirable special Assessments, from time to time which shall be payable at the time or times the Board deems necessary or desirable. The Association shall serve notice of such further Assessments on Members required to pay Assessments, by a statement in writing giving the amount and reasons therefor, and such further assessment shall be payable by the date and upon the terms stated in the notice, which date shall be not less than ten (10) days after the delivery or mailing of such notice of further Assessment.

Section 3. Failure to Prepare Annual Budget. The failure or delay of the Association to prepare or deliver to a Member any annual or adjusted estimate shall not constitute a waiver or release in any manner of such Member's obligation to pay his share of the Assessments, as herein provided, whenever the same shall be determined, and in the absence of any annual estimate or adjusted estimate, the Member required to pay Assessments pursuant to Section 9.2 of the Declaration shall continue to pay the current charge at the existing rate established for the previous period until the Association mails or delivers notice of the new payment due as a result of the determination of the new annual or adjusted estimate.

Section 4. <u>Books and Records of the Association</u>. The Association shall keep full and correct books of account and the same shall be open for inspection by any Member or his

56044 Pg: 17 of 05/01/2014 MISC

representative duly authorized in writing, at such reasonable time or times during normal business hours as may be requested. Upon ten (10) days notice to the Board and payment of a reasonable fee established by the Board, any Member shall be furnished a statement of such Member's account setting forth the amount of any unpaid Assessments or other charges due and owing.

- Status of Funds Collected by Association. All funds collected hereunder Section 5. shall be held and expended solely for the purposes designated herein and (except for such special Assessments as may be levied hereunder against less than all of the Members and for such adjustments as may be required to reflect delinquent or prepaid Assessments) shall be deemed to be held for the use, benefit and account of all Members required to pay Assessments pursuant to Section 10 of the Declaration.
- Depository. The depository of the Association shall be such bank or Section 6. banks and/or such savings and loan association or savings and loan associations and/or such money market fund(s) as shall be designated from time to time by the Board and in which the monies of the Association shall be deposited. Withdrawal of the monies from such accounts shall be only by a check signed by two Persons who are authorized by the Board.
- Annual Review. The books of the Association shall be reviewed once a Section 7. year by the Board and such review shall be completed prior to each annual meeting. If requested by a majority of the members of the Board, such review shall be made by a certified public accountant. In addition and at any time requested by Members or by holders of first mortgages on Ownership Interests possessing in the aggregate fifty percent (50%) or more of the voting power in the Association, the Board shall cause an additional review to be made at the expense of the requesting party.
- Section 8. Remedies for Failure to Pay Assessments. If an Owner shall be in default in the payment of any of the aforesaid Assessments, the Association shall have all of the remedies set forth in the Declaration, in the Code or at law or equity to collect such Assessments and all costs associated therewith.

## Article X Hearing Procedure; Compliance and Non-Monetary Default

Enforcement. In the event of a violation by any Member or any Tenant or Section 1. other Occupant of a Dwelling Unit (other than the nonpayment of Assessments or charges, which are governed by Articles X and XI of the Declaration) of any of the provisions of the Declaration, the Code, or the Rules, the Association or a committee created by the Code (e.g., the DRC or the Covenants Committee) or by the Board shall make a reasonable effort to notify the Member and any Tenant or other Occupant of the violation, by written notice. If such violation is not cured as soon as is reasonably practical and in any event within seven (7) days after the date of such written notice, or if the violation is not capable of being cured within such seven (7) day period, if the Member or Tenant or other Occupant fails to commence and diligently proceed to completely cure such violation as soon as is reasonably practical within seven (7) days after the date of the written demand by the Association or such committee, or if any similar violation is thereafter repeated, the Association or such committee may, at its option:

56044041 Pg: 18 of 25 05/01/2014 11:11 MISC 232.0

- (a) Impose an Enforcement Assessment against the Member or Tenant or other Occupant as provided in Subsection (b) of this Section; and/or
- (b) Commence an action to enforce performance on the part of the Member or Tenant or other Occupant, and to require the Member to correct such failure, or for such other relief as may be necessary under the circumstances, including injunctive relief; and/or
- (c) The Association may itself perform any act or work required to correct such failure and, either prior to or after doing so, may charge the Member with all reasonable costs incurred or to be incurred by the Association in connection therewith, plus a service fee equal to twenty percent (20%) of such costs. In connection with the foregoing, the Association may perform any maintenance or repairs required to be performed, may remove any change, alteration, addition or improvement which is unauthorized or not maintained in accordance with the provisions of the Declaration, remove any improperly parked, disabled, and/or wrecked vehicle (motorized or otherwise), or trailer without liability, and may take any and all other action reasonably necessary to correct the applicable failure; and/or
- (d) Commence an action to recover damages or any other remedy available at law or in equity.

Section 2. Enforcement Assessments. The amount of any Enforcement Assessment shall be a reasonable amount as determined in the sole discretion of the Board, the DRC or the Covenants Committee. Prior to imposing any fine, the Member or Tenant or other Occupant shall be afforded an opportunity for a hearing after making a reasonable effort to provide a written notice to the Member or Tenant or other Occupant of not less than ten (10) days, which notice shall include (i) a statement of the date, time and place of the hearing, (ii) a statement of the provisions of the Declaration, this Code or Rules which have allegedly been violated, (iii) a short and plain statement of the matters asserted by the Association or the committee, (iv) the amount of the proposed charge or Enforcement Assessment, (v) a statement that the Owner has the right to a hearing before the Board or committee to contest the proposed Enforcement Assessment, (vi) a statement setting forth the procedure to request a hearing, and (vii) a statement that the Owner has the right to cure the violation in accordance with Section 1 above. Prior to the effectiveness of any sanction hereunder, proof of notice of the mailing or attempted delivery, and the invitation to be heard shall be placed in the minutes of the meeting. Such proof shall be deemed adequate if a copy of the notice, together with a statement of the date and attempted manner of delivery is entered by the officer, Board Member, committee Member or agent who attempted delivery of such notice. The notice requirement shall be deemed satisfied if the alleged violator appears at the hearing. The minutes of the hearing shall contain a written statement of the hearing and the sanction, if any, imposed. The Member or Tenant or other Occupant shall have an opportunity to respond, to present evidence, and to provide written and oral arguments on all issues involved and shall have an opportunity at the hearing to review, challenge and respond to any material considered by the Association. At the hearing, the Board or committee shall conduct a reasonable inquiry to determine whether the alleged violation in fact occurred, and if the Board or committee so determines, it may impose such fine as it deems appropriate by written notice to the Member or Tenant or other Occupant. The Board or committee shall set any time limitations for all written and oral arguments or presentations by any Persons appearing at the hearing(s). The Board shall not levy an Enforcement Assessment

> 56044041 Pg: 19 of 25 05/01/2014 11:11 MISC 232.00

before holding a hearing pursuant to this Section. If the Member or Tenant or other Occupant fails to attend the hearing as set by the Board or committee, the Member or Tenant or other Occupant shall be deemed to have admitted the allegations contained in the notice to the Member or Tenant or other Occupant. Within thirty (30) days following a hearing at which the Board imposes an Enforcement Assessment, the Board shall deliver a written notice of the Enforcement Assessment to the Owner. Any Enforcement Assessment imposed by the Board or committee shall be due and payable within ten (10) days after written notice of the imposition of the Enforcement Assessment, or if a hearing is timely requested, within ten (10) days after written notice of the Board's or committee's decision at the hearing. Any Enforcement Assessment levied against a Member shall be deemed an Assessment and if not paid when due all of the provisions of the Declaration relating to the late payment of Assessments shall be applicable. If any Enforcement Assessment is levied against a Tenant and is not paid within ten (10) days after same is due, the Association shall have the right to evict the Tenant as hereinafter provided. The Association shall have the right to offset the deposit made to the Association in accordance with Section 7.22(a) of the Declaration. Any written notice that this Section requires shall be delivered to the Owner or Occupant of the Dwelling Unit by personal delivery, by certified mail, return receipt requested, or by regular mail. The Association shall have the right to file a Certificate of Lien for in accordance with Article X of the Declaration.

Section 3. <u>Negligence</u>. A Member shall be liable and may be charged by the Association for the expense of any towing charges, storage charges, maintenance, repair or replacement cost rendered necessary by his act, neglect or carelessness, but only to the extent that such expense is not met by the proceeds of insurance (i.e., such as the insurance deductible) carried by the Association. Such liability shall include any increase in fire insurance rates occasioned by use, misuse, occupancy or abandonment of a Sublot, Dwelling Unit or its appurtenances or of the Common Areas.

Section 4. Responsibility of Members for Tenants. Each Member shall be responsible for the acts and omissions, whether negligent or willful, of his Tenant, and for all employees, agents and invitees of the Member or any such Tenant, and in the event the acts or omissions of any of the foregoing shall result in any damage to the Common Areas, or any liability to the Association, the Member shall be charged for same, limited where applicable to the extent that the expense or liability is not met by the proceeds of insurance (i.e., insurance deductibles) carried by the Association. Furthermore, any violation of any of the provisions of the Declaration, this Code, or any Rule, by any Tenant, or any employees, agents or invitees of a Member or any Tenant of a Dwelling Unit, shall also be deemed a violation by the Member, and shall subject the Member to the same liability as if such violation was that of the Member.

Section 5. <u>Costs and Attorney's Fees</u>. In any legal proceedings commenced by the Association or a committee to enforce the Declaration, this Code and/or the Rules, as said documents may be amended from time to time, the Association or committee shall be entitled to recover the costs of the proceeding and reasonable attorneys' and paralegal fees. Any such costs or attorneys' and paralegals' fees awarded to the Association or committee in connection with any action against any Member shall be charged to the Member.

Section 6. <u>Declarant Assessments for Legal Expenses</u>. Declarant shall not be required to pay any assessments or monies to finance any claim or litigation against Declarant.

56044041 Pg: 20 of 25 05/01/2014 11:11A MISC 232.00

- Section 7. No Waiver of Rights. The failure of the Association or a committee or any Member to enforce any covenant, restriction or any other provision of the Declaration, this Code, or the Rules, as the said documents may be amended from time to time, shall not constitute a waiver of the right to do so thereafter.
- Section 8. <u>Appeal</u>. Following a hearing before a committee, the violator shall have the right to appeal the decision to the Board. To perfect this right, a written notice of appeal must be received by the President or Secretary of the Association within thirty (30) days after the date of receipt of the decision of the committee. No later than thirty (30) days after receipt of the notice of appeal, the Board shall review the minutes of the hearing. The affirmative vote of two-thirds (2/3rds) of the Members of the Board shall be required to reverse or modify the decision of the committee.
- Section 9. Additional Enforcement Rights. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein contained, the Association, acting through the Board, may elect to enforce any provision of the Declaration, this Code, or the Rules and Regulations of the Association by self-help (specifically including, but not limited to, the towing of vehicles that are in violation of parking rules and regulations) or by suit at law or in equity to enjoin any violation or to recover monetary damages or both without the necessity of compliance with the procedure set forth above. In any such action, to the maximum extent permissible, the Owner or Occupant responsible for the violation of which abatement is sought shall pay all costs, including reasonable attorney's fees incurred by the Association in so acting to enforce such rights.

### Article XI Indemnification

Each member of the Board and each officer of the Association, and each former member of the Board and officer of the Association, shall be indemnified by the Association against the costs and expenses reasonably incurred by him in connection with the defense of any pending, threatened or completed action, suit or proceeding, criminal, civil, administrative, or investigative, to which he is or may be made a party by reason of his being or having been such member of the Board or officer of the Association (whether or not he is a member or officer at the time of incurring such costs and expenses), unless such Board member or officer (or former Board member or officer) failed to act in good faith and in a manner he reasonably believed to be in, or not opposed to, the best interests of the Association and, with respect to any criminal proceeding, he had no reasonable cause to believe his action was unlawful. The termination of any action, suit or proceeding by judgment, order, settlement or conviction shall not create, of itself, a presumption that the Person did not act in good faith and in a manner he reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the Association and, with respect to any criminal action or proceeding, a presumption that the Person had reasonable cause to believe that his conduct was unlawful. The determination of whether the Board member's or officer's conduct failed to qualify for indemnification shall be made either by (1) the opinion of independent counsel selected by the Association, (2) by a majority vote of the disinterested members of the Board of the Association, or (3) a majority vote of the disinterested members of a meeting of the Association at which a quorum of Members are present in Person or by proxy. The phrase "disinterested members" shall mean all members of the Board or of the Association other than (i) any member of the Board or officer of the Association who is a party to or

> 56044041 Pg: 21 of 25 @5/01/2014 11:111 MISC 232.00

threatened with such action, suit or proceeding; (ii) any corporation or organization of which such member of the Board or officer referred to in (i) above owns of record or beneficially ten percent (10%) or more of any class of voting securities; (iii) any firm of which such member of the Board or officer referred to in (i) above is a partner or member; and (iv) any spouse, child, parent, brother or sister of any such member of the Board or officer referred to in (i) above. The foregoing rights of indemnification shall inure to the benefit of the heirs and legal representatives of each such member of the Board or officer and shall not be exclusive of other rights to which any member of the Board or officer may be entitled to or granted pursuant to Section 1702.12(E) of the Ohio Revised Code, as a matter of law, or under the Declaration, Articles, this Code, any vote of Association members or any agreement.

### **Article XII** Amendments to this Code of Regulations

Prior to the sale and conveyance of the first Dwelling Unit, Declarant may unilaterally amend this Code. After such sale and conveyance, the Declarant may unilaterally amend this Code so long as it owns any portion of the Property or adjacent lands for development and so long as the amendment has no material adverse effect upon the rights of any Member. Thereafter and otherwise, this Code may be amended only by the affirmative vote or written consent of Class "A" Members representing a majority of the voting power of the Association, which shall include a majority of votes of Members other than the Declarant or, where the two class voting structure is still in effect, shall include the Class "B" Member and a majority of the voting power of the Class "A" Members. However, the percentage of votes necessary to amend a specific clause or provision shall not be less than the prescribed percentage of affirmative votes required for action to be taken under that clause. No amendment to this Code is effective until filed in the office of the Summit County Recorder.

No amendment may remove, revoke, or modify any right or privilege of Declarant without the written consent of Declarant or the assignee of such right or privilege. No amendment may impair the validity or priority of the lien of an Eligible Mortgage Holder or impair the rights granted to an Eligible Mortgage Holder herein without the prior written consent of such Eligible Mortgage Holder.

### Article XIII Miscellaneous

- Section 1. Fiscal Year. The initial fiscal year of the Association shall be set by resolution of the Board.
- Section 2. Parliamentary Rules. Except as may be modified by Board resolution establishing modified procedures, Robert's Rules of Order (current edition) shall govern the conduct of Association proceedings when not in conflict with Ohio law, the Articles, the Declaration, or this Code.
- Section 3. Conflicts. If there are conflicts or inconsistencies between the mandatory provisions of Ohio law, the Articles, the Declaration, and this Code, the mandatory provisions of Ohio law, the Declaration, the Articles, and this Code (in that order) shall prevail.

56044 Pg: 22 of 05/01/2014 MISC

#### Section 4. Books and Records.

- (a) <u>Inspection by Members and Mortgagees</u>. The Declaration and this Code, membership register, books of account, and minutes of meetings of the Members, the Board, and committees shall be made available for inspection and copying by any mortgagee, Member of the Association, or by his duly appointed representative at any reasonable time and for a purpose reasonably related to his interest as a Member at the office of the Association or at such other place within the Property as the Board shall prescribe.
  - (b) Rules for Inspection. The Board shall establish reasonable rules with respect to:
    - (1) notice to be given to the custodian of the records;
    - (2) hours and days of the week when such an inspection may be made; and
    - (3) payment of the cost of reproducing copies of documents requested.
- (c) <u>Limitations on Inspections by Owners</u>. Unless approved by the Board, an Owner may not examine or copy any of the following from books, records, and minutes:
  - (1) Information that pertains to personnel matters;
  - (2) Communications with legal counsel or attorney work product pertaining to potential, threatened or pending litigation, or related matters;
  - (3) Information that pertains to contracts or transactions currently under negotiation, or information that is contained in a contract or other agreement containing confidentiality requirements and that is subject to those requirements;
  - (4) Information that relates to the enforcement of the Declaration, the Code, or Rules against other Owners;
    - (5) Information, the disclosure of which is prohibited by state or federal law.
- (d) <u>Inspection by Members of the Board</u>. Every Member of the Board shall have the absolute right at any reasonable time to inspect all books, records, and documents of the Association and the physical properties owned or controlled by the Association. The right of inspection by a Member of the Board includes the right to make extracts and copies of documents at the expense of the Association.
- Section 5. <u>Notices</u>. Unless otherwise provided in this Code, all notices, demands, bills, statements, or other communications under this Code shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been duly given if delivered personally or if sent by regular U.S. mail or by certified U.S. mail, return receipt requested, first class postage prepaid or by Federal Express or another nationally recognized courier that guarantees next day delivery and provides a receipt:

Kristen Scalise, Summit Co Fiscal Office

- (a) if to a Member, or at the address which the Member has designated in writing and filed with the secretary or, if no such address has been designated, at the address of the Dwelling Unit of such Member; or
- (b) if to the Association, the Board, or the managing agent, at the principal office of the Association or the managing agent, if any, or at such other address as shall be designated by the notice in writing to the Owners pursuant to this Section.

#### Section 6. Owner Information.

- (a) Owner Information. Within thirty (30) days after an Owner obtains an Ownership Interest, the Owner shall provide the following information in writing to the Association through the Board:
  - (1) The home and business mailing addresses, and home and business telephone numbers of the Owner and all Occupants of the Dwelling Unit; and/or
  - (2) The name, business address and business telephone number of any Person who manages the Owner's Dwelling Unit as an agent of that Owner.
- (b) <u>Change of Information</u>. Within thirty (30) days after a change in any of the information that (a) of this Section requires, an Owner shall notify the Association, through the Board, in writing, of the change. When the Board requests, a Unit Owner shall verify or update the information.
- Section 7. <u>Headings</u>. The heading of each Article and of each Section in this Code is inserted only as a matter of convenience and for reference and in no way defines, limits or describes the scope or intent of this Code or in any way affects this Code.
- Section 8. <u>Conflicts</u>. If there are conflicts or inconsistencies between the mandatory provisions of Ohio law, the Articles, the Declaration, and this Code, the mandatory provisions of Ohio law, the Declaration, the Articles, and the Code (in that order) shall prevail.
- Section 9. Rule Against Perpetuities. If any of the options, privileges, covenants or rights created by this Code shall be unlawful or void for violation of (a) the rule against perpetuities or some analogous statutory provision, (b) the rule restricting restraints on alienation, or (c) any other statutory or common-law rules imposing time limits, then such provision shall continue only until twenty-one (21) years after the death of the survivor of the now living descendants of Barack Obama, President of the United States of America, and Joe Biden, Vice President of the United States of America.

[THIS SPACE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]



IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF, the Association, has caused this Code to be MAPCH, 2014.	undersigned, being the Members of the Board of the duly adopted on or as of the day of			
	CORBETT'S FARM HOMEOWNERS' ASSOCIATION, INC., an Ohio not-for-profit corporation			
	By: STANKATANIC, its President			
	By: FAUL SPENTHORF, its Vice President			
STATE OF OHIO ) SS. COUNTY OF MEDINA)				
BEFORE ME, a Notary Public in and for said County and State, personally appeared the above named CORBETT'S FARM HOMEOWNERS' ASSOCIATION, INC., an Ohio not-for-profit corporation, by STAN WATANIC, its NICE PRESIDENT, and by PAUL SPENTHOFF, its NICE PRESIDENT, who acknowledged that they executed the within instrument, that such execution was their free act and deed both individually and in their capacity as officers				
of the Association and the free act and deed of the Association.  IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF, I have herein set my hand and notarial seal this				

THIS INSTRUMENT PREPARED BY Matthew T. Viola, Esq. Kohrman Jackson & Krantz PLL 1375 East 9<sup>th</sup> Street, 20<sup>th</sup> Floor Cleveland, Ohio 44114 (216) 696-8700



STACEY SANDERS
Notary Public, State of Ohio
Cuyahoga County
My Commission Expires Oct. 21, 2014